2001

Walter E. Mullins v. Ralph M. Evans and Royal Industries Corporation Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF CASE

This is an action by plaintiff-respondent to obtain a two percent (2%) commission payment from Ralph M. Evans, an individual, and Royal Industries Corporation, Inc., a foreign corporation. Plaintiff-Mullins' claim is based on a written letter memorandum signed by Ralph M. Evans, President of the R. M. Evans Company, an Arizona corporation, and concerned a machine owned and produced by the R. M. Evans Manufacturing Corporation, an Arizona corporation.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The plaintiff-Mullins' Complaint for a two percent (2%) commission against the two defendant-appellants originally prayed for relief under the terms of a written contract. This Complaint was dismissed, with leave to amend, because it stated no claim against these defendant-appellants. Thereafter, plaintiff-Mullins filed

an Amended Complaint praying for relief under the terms of an alleged oral contract obligating these defendant-appellants. Plaintiff-Mullins was permitted a jury trial on the basis of this Amended Complaint.

Thereafter, at trial, even though plaintiff-Mullins admitted that his claim was based on the written contract, the trial judge permitted the case to go to the jury. A verdict was returned in the sum of \$6,040.00 against defendant-Ralph M. Evans as an individual, and the sum of \$47,160.00 against defendant-Royal Industries Corporation, Inc.

The trial judge had become ill and was hospitalized prior to the case having been submitted to the jury or jury instructions having been prepared and read. Further, a death in the judge's family during the course of the trial prevented adequate and appropriate consideration of jury instructions by the Court. However, upon the judge's return to the bench, he nonetheless denied defendants-appellants' Motion for a Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, in the Alternative, for a New Trial, or for a Remittitur on the Judgment. Thus, this verdict was permitted to stand and defendants-appellants appealed.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The defendants, Ralph M. Evans, an individual, and the Royal Industries Corporation, Inc., seek to have the verdict reversed and remanded with instructions for a dismissal against each of them. In the alternative, each defendant-appellant seeks this Court to order a new trial or a remittitur.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The evidence, when viewed in a light most favorable to the plaintiff-respondent, demonstrates the following facts:

1. Plaintiff-respondent, Walter E. Mullins, (hereinafter referred to as "plaintiff-Mullins") is a maintenance man for Chicago Bridge and Iron Company. He had no engineering training, did not hold himself out to be an engineer, and had completed the 11th grade in his schooling. (R-474, 486-487; A-3)

2. Plaintiff-Mullins denied having done any engineering on the machine, subject of the within litigation; he clearly and heatedly made this point as follows:

"A. Let's get this straight, right to start with; there was no 'engineer' in this. I am just a maintenance man--no 'engineer'. I don't know where this came from--get it straight before the Court, right now; there is no 'engineer' in this." (R-522; see also R-548, 828-829; A-3, 36; see also A-62, 217-218.)

3. In approximately 1965, plaintiff-Mullins began building a post forming machine for EFCO Corporation, a company of which defendant-Evans was then President. This machine is not part of the within litigation, but established a format of the parties' subsequent business dealings. This format was that the first machine prototype was constructed by plaintiff-Mullins at home on an hourly basis, during his spare time. Subsequently, the machines were built on a fixed fee basis. (R-487-488, 523-524, 559, 842; A-4, 37-38, 71, 226). Plaintiff-Mullins invoiced and was paid by EFCO as early as December 20, 1965. (R-842, 844; A-228).

4. The defendant-Evans formed two (2) Arizona corporations. One corporation was a manufacturing organization

known as the Ralph Evans Manufacturing Corporations and the second was one for sales of the manufactured goods; it was called R. M. Evans Company, Inc. These corporations superceded the EFCO Corporation's relationship with plaintiff-Mullins and his production. (A-40, 41; Exhibit D-1; A-53.)

5. In the spring of 1966, defendant-Evans informed plaintiff-Mullins of a new machine concept for laminating plastic to kitchen countertops by a device which operated similarly to the wringer rollers on an old style clothes washing machine; however, in this case the rollers were much larger and the bottom roller was segmented. This segmented bottom roller permitted the segments to be laterally separated as to permit the uneven portions (backsplash board, etc.) of the kitchen countertop to pass through, while maintaining constant pressure on the plastic as it was being laminated to the countertop. (A-55-57.)

6. Plaintiff-Mullins agreed to attempt to construct a prototype machine embodying the machine concept on an hourly rate in his spare time at home. (R-533, 566; A-47, 78.) After the first prototypes were constructed, plaintiff-Mullins agreed to construct and ship the machines on a fixed fee basis of \$425.00 per machine, which agreement was consummated in November, 1966. (R-570; A-83) Invoices for labor from plaintiff-Mullins on the first machines are not part of this suit; however, of significance is the fact that all invoices of plaintiff-Mullins, for his services above described, were addressed to and paid for by the R. M. Evans Manufacturing Corporation, after January 28, 1966. (R-846, 862; A-229, 239.)

7. After Plaintiff-Mullins had constructed a number of these postforming machines at his home, larger contracts were provided by the R. M. Evans

Manufacturing Company at a premises located in Murray, Utah. Plaintiff-Mullins only furnished personal services and all of the bills, including the rent and utilities, were paid by said corporation. (R-491; A-7.) Further, all materials and supply costs were paid by the R. M. Evans Manufacturing Company, Inc., either by billings submitted by plaintiff-Mullins, or by invoices forwarded to the corporation's Glendale, Arizona headquarters. (R-491, 537-538, 569, 575; A-7, 51, 81, 87)

8. At least by January 28, 1966, plaintiff-Mullins was fully aware that he was dealing with the Ralph M. Evans Manufacturing Corporation, an Arizona corporation. (R-568-570, 613, 583; A-80-82, 116, 95.) Plaintiff-Mullins acknowledged this fact by addressing correspondence to the "R. M. Evans Manufacturing Company, Attention Ralph M. Evans." (R-583; A-95.)

9. Before any machines were sold or produced and in early 1966, plaintiff-Mullins made preliminary drawings which were forwarded to the Ralph Evans Manufacturing Company. Plaintiff-Mullins in his own hand wrote the title: "R. M. Evans Manufacturing Company" on these drawings. (R-572, 613-614; A-84, 116-117; Exhibit D-18.) In addition, during 1966 plaintiff-Mullins: (a) Was paid by corporation checks, (R-536, 567; A-50, 79); (b) Billed and invoiced the Ralph M. Evans Manufacturing Company, Inc., when seeking payment for work completed, (R-537-538, 846; A-51-52, 228); (c) Pursuant to instructions received from the corporation, caused suppliers to bill the Ralph M. Evans Manufacturing Company, rather than Mr. Evans personally, (R-537, 567; A-51, 79); (d) Addressed all correspondence to that corporate entity, (R-569, 575, 851; A-81, 232).

10. The first machine known as the "Evans EZY-BOND PINCH ROLLER" was completed and shipped by plaintiff-Mullins November 28, 1966. (R-862; A-238) This machine and all subsequent ones had identification tags placed on them by plaintiff-Mullins. These identification tags stated: "R. M. Evans & Co. Inc., Patent Pending." (R-602, 618, 621, 866-867; A-109, 119-120, 240-241; Exhibit D-30.)

11. In March of 1967, a dispute arose between plaintiff-Mullins and the Ralph M. Evans Manufacturing Company concerning quality control and delivery problems. Plaintiff-Mullins informed the corporation president, defendant-Evans, that if he thought it was so easy, he could take the production to Phoenix, Arizona. This suggestion was accepted; however, plaintiff-Mullins asserted an ownership interest in the machine and refused to surrender the parts, jigs, dogs, partially completed work, and other related materials. (R-502-503; A-18-19.) Plaintiff Mullins demanded \$10,000.00 cash for his asserted proprietary rights in this machine, now known as the "Evans EZY-BOND PINCH ROLLER." (R-504; A-20).

12. Plaintiff-Mullins was informed by defendant-Evans that there was no money in the corporation to pay the \$10,000.00; however, defendant-Evans offered to pay five percent (5%) of the net income of the R. M. Evans Company for one year and two percent (2%) of the manufacturing corporation's sales price of the "EZY-BOND PINCH ROLLER" as long as it made the machines, if plaintiff-Mullins would surrender the machine parts, jigs and partially completed machines. In addition, the corporation paid \$18,613.90 for work done by Mullins between July 1966 and March 20, 1967, the last date work was done. (R-870; A-239-240.)

the commission agreement was accepted

(R-503, 862-863; A-19, 238-240.) However, plaintiff-Mullins required that any such agreement would have to be reduced to a writing. (R-504-505; A-20-21.)

13. On or about March 24, 1967, the terms were reduced to a written memorandum. Plaintiff-Mullins' own testimony of this arrangement was as follows:

"A. I was asking for \$10,000.00 for the settlement on that Pinch-Roller, so he could have all the rights to the machine."

"Q. What did Mr. Evans say? No response to that?"

"A. He said, 'Walt, I can't afford that; I'm just getting started--started in business--and I owe you quite a bit of money; and when I get it paid off, and when I get it paid off, and--I can't afford that, but I will do this; I will give you two percent (2%) of the selling cost of that machine, as long as I build it.'"

"Q. On the sales price, you mean?"

"A. Yes."

"Q. What was your response to this suggestion?"

"A. I told him that it sounded like a fair and honest agreement, and if he would put it into writing, I would agree to it."

"Q. Did he, subsequently, send you a writing to that effect?"

"A. Yes, he did." (R-504-505; A-20-21.)

That writing was received by plaintiff-Mullins and stated as follows:

"Dear Walt:

"In reference to our conversation of March 24, 1967 regarding your commissions on the EVANS EZY-BOND pinch roller sales. (sic)

"As agreed, we will pay you a two-percent (2%) commission on all EVANS EZY-BOND pinch rollers manufactured in Glendale, Arizona. This commission to be based on the Mfg. Co. sale price of the pinch roller or \$1,165.00 per machine. ...

"...

"...

"Very truly yours,

"R. M. Evans and Co., Inc.
Ralph M. Evans, President." (R-505; A-21-22, Exhibit D-3, attached as Appendix "A".)

(Counsel for plaintiff-Mullins stipulated that the five percent (5%) of the profits of the R. M. Evans Manufacturing Company was fully paid and not an issue in this suit.) (R-590, 593-594; A-102.)

14. Plaintiff-Mullins also testified that his commission was to be two percent (2%) "...of the sales price, based on \$1,165.00, sales price." (R-596; A-104.) Further, plaintiff-Mullins stated specifically that the two percent would be paid only "as long as he (R. M. Evans and Co.) manufactured them." (R-597; A-104.)

15. Plaintiff-Mullins permitted agents of the Manufacturing Corporation to take a number of uncompleted machines, the jigs and other devices used in the construction of the machines to Phoenix for manufacture. (R-598; A-105-106.)

16. As stated above, plaintiff-Mullins was not an engineer and made no claim of performing engineering work. In his deposition taken December 21, 1970, and read into the record, plaintiff-Mullins submitted that he did not design the features of the machine; he stated:

"Q. But are you telling me you did not design features of that machine?"

"A. No, I didn't design them."

"...any design features of the Ezy-Bond machine solely your ideas?"

"A. I say, possibly, the frame aspect, you know, and the outer frame and shell."

"Q. What part do you believe is original with you?"

"A. Well, I just designed--I mean, I shaped the shape of it, you know--how it was shaped, about the only thing I can say."

"Q. Was there anything else in the Ezy-Bond machine which you regard as original with you or your idea?"

"A. No." (R-552; A-66.)

Thereafter at trial, plaintiff-Mullins did assert that he originated the idea of a safety device to lift the rollers in the event a man's body was caught, was his idea; he also testified that he selected materials for and designed the square drive shaft for the bottom segmented roller and designed the plate frame. (R-548; A-62.)

17. Plaintiff-Mullins admitted that this safety device was constructed by going to Mr. Ralph Walker of a pneumatic supply house. It was Mr. Walker who drew the pneumatic circuit and recommended the stock parts that would be required to raise the rollers, when a safety bar was pressed. Plaintiff-Mullins was at this time being paid on an hourly rate. (R-566; A-78.) That circuit system and the safety device concept was not unique, new or novel. The concept was patented first in 1958 and was part of the public domain. (R-651-652, 658, 779, 782; A-132-133, 135, 194, 196; Exhibit D-33) Also, plaintiff-Mullins admitted that the segmented roller concept was not his, but someone else's. However, the square drive shaft design was his. (R-828, 830; A-217-218, 222.)

18. On or about May 1, 1967, plaintiff-Mullins was informed by the Evans Manufacturing Company from Arizona of difficulties which were occurring with the machine due to uneven pressure

being applied on the kitchen tops. (R-584; A-96; Exhibit D-28.) Plaintiff-Mullins accepted responsibility for the square shaft design and the resulting difficulty with customers of the machine. (R-589; A-101.) Some thirty-one (31) machines constructed by plaintiff-Mullins had to be redesigned for a round drive shaft and milling of the rubber rollers. Also, other customer complaints received by the manufacturing corporation were forwarded to plaintiff-Mullins. (R-881, 883; A-254, 256.)

19. The square shaft concept of plaintiff-Mullins was abandoned between May and June, 1967, because redesign and correctional efforts on that system were not successful. (R-797, 879, 881; A-203, 252, 254.)

20. On or about August 23, 1968, a letter was forwarded to plaintiff-Mullins by the R. M. Evans Company, signed by defendant Evans as President. This letter enclosed a corporate check in the sum of \$1,182.78, as full payment for all amounts due or thereafter due to plaintiff-Mullins; it also outlined how the figure was arrived at, by deducting adjustments for defective square shaft machine repairs. The letter stated in part:

"I honestly feel, Walt, that you have been well paid for any design and development efforts which you put into the Ezy-Bond and do not feel further payment to you on this machine is justified. Therefore, effective May 1, 1968, we will no longer pay you commissions on each Ezy-Bond manufactured. Very truly yours, R. M. Evans and Company, Inc., Ralph M. Evans, President."
(R-508; A-24; Exhibit D-4, attached as Appendix "B".)

21. This letter was received by plaintiff-Mullins; it was read and understood by him to be a tender by the company of all sums due to plaintiff-Mullins. The check was knowingly endorsed,

cashed and the funds used by plaintiff-Mullins. (R-625-626, 832, 839; A-121, 220.) Plaintiff-Mullins specifically agreed to a deduction for the thirty-one (31) defective square drive shaft machines. (R-878; A-251.)

22. On or about September 9, 1968, plaintiff-Mullins addressed a letter to the R. M. Evans Company, Inc., at its Glendale, Arizona address, attention Ralph M. Evans. In this correspondence he did not dispute the accord and satisfaction tender made by the Arizona corporation; rather, plaintiff-Mullins' letter requested that the corporation reconsider its position; he stated: "In looking at this from my side, don't you feel you should continue with our agreement?" (R-512-513; A-28-29; Exhibit D-6.)

23. Plaintiff-Mullins never tendered a return of the money received; rather he negotiated the check even though he was aware of the serious dispute concerning the value of his square shaft designed machine, which he knew was not working and was subsequently scrapped. (R-589; A-101.)

24. Concerning the machines which were constructed by plaintiff-Mullins, it was mutually agreed that said Mullins would produce a "...satisfactory, marketable machine..." (R-588; A-100.) The redesign of the EZY-BOND by the Ralph M. Evans Manufacturing Company resulted in additional costs of \$160.00 per machine or a total of \$4,960.00. (R-886; A-259.) In addition, incidental costs in the sum of \$3,004.72 and miscellaneous travel and related expenses totaling \$4,500.00 were incurred. Other claimed losses included credits given customers in the sum of \$493.10 and a loss of twenty customers at a loss of \$40,000.00. The total loss testified to by defendant-Evans by virtue of the breach of this understanding to

the Manufacturing Corporation was approximately \$49,593.00.

(R-884, 891; A-257, 264.) As above stated, the defendant agreed to a deduction of the two percent commission on the thirty-one (31) defective machines and accepted responsibility therefor. (See also R-892; A-265.)

25. Immediately prior to December 31, 1968, the defendant-Royal Industries Corporation, Inc. began negotiations for the purchase of the assets of the two Arizona corporations, Ralph Evans Company, Inc. and the R. M. Evans Manufacturing Company. They employed an independant certified public accountant firm to audit the assets and liabilities of the two corporations. After such an audit, a contract was consummated dated December 31, 1968. This contract provided that they would purchase the assets of these two corporations and transfer approximately 50,000 shares of investment stock to the stockholders as payment, plus assume designated and specifically enumerated liabilities attached as an Exhibit to that written contract. (R-808, 909, 911, 916, 919, 926; A-210, 273, 275, 278-279, 281, 284; Exhibit D-45.) This contract further provided that the law of California would apply to the transaction. (Exhibit D-45.)

26. The named liabilities to be assumed by defendant-Royal Industries, did not include the contingent claim of Walter Mullins; in fact, said defendant-corporation was not even aware of the existence of plaintiff-Mullins' asserted claim until subsequent to the filing of this suit on August 10, 1970. (R-2; R-916, 910-911, 918; A-278, 274-275, 280.)

27. At the close of plaintiff's case, the only evidence concerning the number of machines produced was the eighty-three (83)

machines which had been manufactured prior to the time that the assets of the two Arizona companies had been sold to defendant-Royal Industries. Therefore, the defendants each moved for a dismissal on the grounds that the plaintiff had failed to meet his burden of proof to establish any claim against these defendants. The Court took these motions under advisement and forced the defendants to present their affirmative case. (R-920; A-281-282.) Thereafter, evidence was presented by the defendants to establish that a maximum of approximately 463 machines had been produced, of which 83 had already been paid for, leaving a maximum of 380 machines upon which plaintiff-Mullins could base his claim for damages. (R-972, 991; A-294, 302.) A supplemental accounting made pursuant to motions after the trial demonstrates that the actual number produced was 393 machines. (R-1063; A-339.) If one multiplies that production number times \$23.30 (two percent of the \$1,165.00 manufacturer's sales price as per the written agreement), the result is \$9,156.90. This sum is the maximum amount of a verdict, under any reasonable construction of the facts, which could possibly have been rendered against any party, even the proper parties defendant-R. M. Evans Manufacturing Corporation or Ralph Evans Company. (R-1063)

28. On the last day of the trial (Thursday, June 26, 1975), a member of the trial judge's family died and, therefore, the judge informed the jury that due to his need to make funeral arrangements, the judge would no longer be able to handle the case; therefore, he would be referring the matter to Judge Hall. Thus, the jury was excused until Monday, June 30, 1975. (R-976; A-297-298.)

29. Prior to leaving Court Thursday, June 26, 1975, Judge Snow called the plaintiff's counsel and the defendant's counsel into

his chambers, individually and separately, and tried to induce the parties to reach an accommodated settlement, indicating (at least to defendant) that if the case were not settled, the case's jury instructions would be prepared by Judge Hall on Friday, June 27, 1975. Negotiations failed and arrangements for Judge Hall did not work out. (A-318) In the meantime, Judge Snow was confined in the LDS Hospital and he apparently attempted to put together the jury instructions, while confined in the hospital. (A-319) The judge noted: "That is a thing I tried to stay out of, that damned hospital. I went to the point I couldn't stand up." (A-319)

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