2001

Walter E. Mullins v. Ralph M. Evans & Royal Industries Corporation Inc. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

"Q. And it was Royal's understanding at the time they made the purchase of these two corporations controlled by Mr. Evans that they were buying assets, liabilities, physical plant, everything, is that true, except for the stock?

"A. Well, it was my understanding we were buying the assets, liabilities as disclosed to us."

He further testified:

"Q. And you thought at that time, didn't you, Mr. Freedman, that you were getting all of the liabilities as revealed by the company records?

"A. We had no reason to believe that they were not all the liabilities.

"Q. The fact still remains, does it not, Mr. Freedman, when the deal was made your company thought they were getting all of the liabilities and the assets in one lump; that is true, is it not?

"A. Yes. We thought that the liabilities were all that the Evans Companies had."
(R 919, 927 and 929)

Ralph Evans testified that all of the records were available for review, including the Mullins agreement. He thought they had been thoroughly reviewed by Royal personnel or accountants on their behalf prior to the purchase (R 899, 962, 963 and 964).

As far as all of the parties to the merger were concerned, there had been a complete purchase of the corporations and a merger of all assets, liabilities, contracts, etc. The agreement specifically recited an assumption of "all of its rights, title and interest to its agreement, contracts, ... with other parties" (Exhibit D-45).

The Mullins agreement recites unequivocally that Mullins

would receive a two per cent commission on the sales price of the machine. It states "As agreed, we will pay you a two per cent (2%) commission on all EVANS EZY-BOND PINCH ROLLERS manufactured in Glendale, Arizona." (Exhibit P-3) If there is ambiguity in the amount of commission to be paid, said ambiguity should be resolved against the appellants as the contract was drawn by them (Seal vs. Tayco, Inc., 16 Utah 2d 323, 400 P.2d 503).

It is generally held that where a corporation merges or purchases all of the assets and assumes the obligations and contracts of another corporation, said acquisition includes all obligations, whether they are inadvertently omitted from a list or not. See Sudakovich vs. Central Bank of Bingham, 62 Utah 24, 218 P.2d 113, wherein the Utah Supreme Court stated:

"We do not agree with appellant's contention that the defendant assumed only such liabilities as were listed and acknowledged. There was no limitation expressed in the offer of defendant and it must have been understood by the receiver, the bank commissioners, and the court as well, that the settlement included every person who might be found to be a depositor with the bank."

In the instant case, Royal has clearly indicated in its agreement of merger that it was buying everything except those

certain enumerated obligations. The Mullins contract was not excluded. See also annotations at 15 ALR 1181 and 149 ALR 816. See also Hogan vs. Price River Irrigation Company, 55 Utah 170, 184 P. 536; Forbes vs. Thorpe, 209 Mass. 570, 95 N.E. 955.

In the Forbes case, supra, the Massachusetts court ruled that where all assets are transferred to another corporation, together with liabilities expressly assumed, said corporation cannot retain the property acquired and at the same time avoid the payment of the debts which it agreed to pay as part of the purchase price simply because the amount of the debt was misrepresented. The court stated the purchaser clearly cannot keep the advantages of a transaction and avoid the obligations.

In appellants' brief, they cite the case of Parker vs. Telegift International, Inc., 29 Utah 2d 87, 505 P.2d 301. That case is not in any way comparable in facts with the instant case. In Parker, only the stock was sold, not its assets, contracts, or liabilities. In the instant case, appellant, Royal Industries, purchased everything. We would also agree with the general rule that where a corporation purchases nothing but assets and excludes contracts, obligations, and other liabilities, such may be done if valid consideration is given to the stockholders of the selling corporation. The general rule is cited in Cooper vs. Utah Power & Light Company, 35 Utah 570,

102 P.202 that there is no presumption that obligations are assumed by purchase of assets only. However, in the instant case, the merger agreement was intended to assume and merge all of the assets, liabilities, and contracts. For this reason, Ralph Evans, individually, and Royal Industries are liable to the plaintiff to perform their obligations under the contract.

From 1969 to April of 1972, 350 machines had been manufactured and sold (R 974-975). Evans claimed that during 1972, they had lost some customers because of problems with the roller device in the machine and the company loss was about \$40,000.00 in sales. At that time (1972), the machine was selling for about \$2,000.00 (R 955-956). Evans admitted that at no time did Mullins ever tell him he would guarantee the machine to work without having problems (R 958). The selling price of the machine continued to climb as the inflationary trend progressed (R 932). On Page 22 of appellants' brief, they represent to the court that there are at least 393 machines sold and that a minimum amount owing to Mullins under the contract would be \$9,156.90, computing the commission at the sale price in 1968. They totally disregard the fact that the contract calls for a 2% commission on the sale price of each machine. Appellants' interrogatories asked the jury this specific question. See Interrogatory No. 2 (R 481).

The jurors answered said question in the affirmative (R 578). The jurors also found in Interrogatory No. 1 that appellant Evans personally agreed to pay two per cent commission to Mullins.

From the time the machines were originally constructed until April of 1972, there were almost 400 machines sold. This was for a period of approximately 3-1/2 years. From April of 1972 until the time of trial, late June of 1975, another three years had elapsed. From this, the jurors could easily conclude that approximately 400 more machines had been made and sold if not more. The machines were being sold around the world.

Appellants' counsel cites part of the argument to the jury given by counsel for the respondent wherein a \$40.00 commission figure was used as part of counsel's argument to the jury. This was based upon a sale figure in 1972 of \$2,000.00. The argument, of course, was in no way an indication to the jury that this was the maximum amount coming to Mr. Mullins but merely given to the jurors and so understood as an approximation of the amount of commissions due at the time of the answers to interrogatories in 1972.

The appellants were in sole and complete control of the books concerning the number of machines manufactured and the

gross sales figures on the machine. Counsel suggests that a post-judgment accounting was made establishing the number of machines actually sold to the date of trial. The only accounting claimed to have been made by the appellants is a self-serving affidavit by one of the appellants, Ralph Evans. The affidavit was signed on the 8th day of April, 1976, claiming a certain number of machines had been sold. This affidavit was filed almost nine months after the case had been tried. It was not filed in accordance with any order of the court for an accounting nor was it filed at the request of the plaintiff. It was a self-serving affidavit filed after the case was on appeal, apparently in an attempt to influence this Court, although not part of the trial evidence (R 1062). Plaintiff tried to establish the current selling price of the machine at the time of trial but appellants objected thereto and the court sustained the objection (R 956). Appellants were and are in sole possession of all of the documentation as to selling price. Because of their own objections, appellants refused to allow respondent to elicit the sales figures from appellants' office personnel. They were asked to produce the sales evidence on the number of machines sold to date of trial and the sales figures as they were in sole and exclusive possession of the same. They refused to do so. The evidence in their exclusive control was purposely

The court then went on to state:

"It has also been held that the burden of producing evidence at a trial should be shifted once it is shown that the defendant's control over the accounts was exclusive." (Wilson vs. Moline, 229 Minn. 164, 38 N.W.2d 201.)

It is respectfully submitted that there was ample evidence to show that at least in 1972, the sale price on the machine in question was \$2,000.00 and there had been sold approximately 385 machines. The jurors well could have concluded that at least a like amount of machines were made in the following three years and sold at a price admittedly in excess of \$2,000.00 per machine. It was the statement of appellant Evans that the price continuously rose on the machines due to inflation.

In any event, it was the duty of the appellants who were in exclusive control of the records to bring forth the records during the time of trial as to the actual total gross sales figure on the machine in question. They refused to do so. They therefore should not now be allowed to complain.

According to Exhibit D-45, the merger agreement, the financial statement of the Evans Companies show that they were grossing in sales in excess of \$900,000.00 a year at the time of the merger. There is ample evidence from the figures given

at the time of trial from which a jury could conclude that well over \$50,000.00 in commissions was owing to Mr. Mullins for 6-1/2 years of sales.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANTS' MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL.

The appellants, after the jury's verdict had been rendered, then moved for a new trial, claiming ambiguities in interrogatories and the answers given thereto. In their brief, they recite those to which they object.

Interrogatory No. 24, as referred to on Page 42 of their brief, asks whether or not plaintiff Mullins was paid by Mr. Evans personally to which the jurors answered "No." The uncontradicted evidence was that the checks were drawn on the corporate account and the jurors obviously so found.

Interrogatory No. 25 asks whether or not Mullins was paid by the corporation. The jurors answered "Yes" to this question which obviously is correct---the funds were paid in the form of corporate checks from the Evans family-owned corporation.

No. 26 asks whether or not the plaintiff was providing services in the manufacture of the machine for the Evans Corporation to which the jurors answered "Yes." Obviously,

Mr. Mullins started his work with Mr. Evans personally and after the incorporation, continued working with Mr. Evans and for his family corporation. There is nothing inconsistent about this answer.

Question No. 27 asks whether or not Mr. Mullins was also providing services in developing the machine for Mr. Evans as an individual to which the jurors answered "Yes." The evidence is clear that such was the case. Mr. Evans, as an individual, solicited Mullins to help make the machine and also, later on informed him that he and his family had formed a corporation for the production and sale of the machine. There is no inconsistency in the answer.

On Pages 42 and 43 of their brief, they refer to the answers given to Interrogatory Numbers 1 and 30. Their questions are ambiguous in that they refer to certain payments but do not specify what payments. The jurors answered these questions; however, the interrogatories were requested by appellants and they should not now be allowed to complain about their construction.

They complain about the answer to Interrogatory No. 1 wherein the jurors found that there was a contract entered into whereby Mullins was to be paid two per cent of the sales price

of the machine to which the jurors answered "Yes." There appears to be nothing ambiguous about that answer.

In regard to Interrogatory No. 28, the jurors answered the question as being "Undecided." Appellants were apparently asking the jurors to make a determination as to what the thoughts were of Mr. Mullins. The jurors apparently had not decided what his thoughts were and evidently found the question ambiguous.

Question No. 29 complained of is also consistent with the other answers given by the jurors. The question asks whether or not the plaintiff understood that defendant Evans was acting solely in his capacity as an officer of the corporation to which the jurors answered "No." He was also acting on his own behalf.

On Page 45 of their brief, they complain about an answer given to Interrogatory No. 43 wherein it was asked of the jurors if Royal Industries knowingly agreed to assume and fulfill the terms of a letter memorandum dated April 11, 1967. The jurors answered "No." One of the witnesses for Royal Industries stated that he did not knowingly recall the particular agreement with Mr. Mullins at the time of the merger. Evans said the Mullins agreement was available for review along with the other corporate records. The jurors' answer in such event was not inconsistent. This does now however mean that the merger agreement and the

understanding of the parties did not contemplate the acceptance of the Mullins' contract in accordance with the terms and provisions of Exhibit D-45.

This Court has repeatedly stated that judgments will be sustained if supported by any substantial evidence and reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom. Jensen vs. Eddy, 30 Utah 2d 154, 514 P.2d 1142.

This Court has also stated that the amount of damages awarded by a jury is a matter of discretion. Hirabelli vs. Daniels, 44 Utah 88, 138 P. 1172.

It has also repeatedly been held that a jury's conduct cannot be impeached by affidavits of the jurors unless their conduct is the direct result of a quotient or chance verdict. A juror is not permitted to impeach a verdict by giving an affidavit that the other jurors did not understand the evidence. Stringham vs. Broderick, 529 P.2d 425; Vernon Smith vs. Wilmer Barnett, 17 Utah 2d 240, 408 P.2d 709; Hathaway vs. Marks, 21 Utah 2d 33, 439 P.2d 850. Nor will the courts go behind the jury's answers to interrogatories to analyze or speculate as to the manner in which the jurors arrived at their decision. Weber Basin Water Conservancy District vs. Nelson, supra. See also Hepworth vs. Covey Brothers Amusement Company, 97 Utah 205, 91 P.2d 507. All of the issues raised by appellants in their

Motion for a New Trial were duly considered by the trial court. The motion was denied, and properly so.

POINT III

THE INSTRUCTIONS GIVEN TO THE JURY WERE PROPER.

The instructions given to the jury were almost verbatim as requested by appellants herein. Of course, the court did give some of respondent's requests and denied others.

On Page 26 of appellants' brief, they continually refer to the court's preparation of the instructions in the hospital. Such is not the case. The instructions were prepared by Judge Snow and given to Judge Croft before Judge Snow went into the hospital. The only discussions about instructions in the hospital were those discussions concerning certain objections that appellants voiced about the instructions which were reviewed by Judge Snow at the hospital. Some of the court's instructions were omitted by agreement of counsel and the court.

Appellants complain of Instruction No. 30. This instruction told the jurors that if they found the issues in favor of respondent, they should, by a preponderance of the evidence, determine the machines sold and the amount of damages suffered by respondent. There was nothing erroneous in this instruction. The argument against giving such an instruction by appellants is based

solely on their own view of the evidence and obviously not based upon the evidence as found by the jurors.

Instruction No. 31 to which they object is clearly the law. It merely tells the jurors that since defendants drew the agreement, any ambiguity should be resolved against them. This is fundamental contract law. Seal vs. Tayco, Inc., supra. Appellants attempt to claim that Royal Industries should not be held to the same burden of the instruction since it merely assumed the agreement by contract and was not a party to it. It is respectfully submitted that Royal assumed the agreement and all of the necessary rights and obligations therein. They certainly are not in the position to claim that any ambiguities should be resolved in their favor.

Instruction No. 32, which was objected to by appellants, correctly states the law. The court instructed the jurors that if they found that Royal Industries purchased the obligations and assets of the Evans Companies that they may have acquired the obligation, either expressly or by implication, and could become legally responsible. The facts clearly indicate by the merger agreement and testimony that there was such an assumption of obligations and contracts and such instruction was clearly the law of the case (Exhibit D-45).

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